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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This brief uses the same naming protocol as the initial brief and the

same method of citing to the record.

The Answer/Cross-Initial Brief filed by Mr. Locke will be referred to as

(AB. *). His appendix is cited as (LA. *).

This is accompanied by a reply appendix that contains only the

transcript of the hearing on costs. It will be cited as (RA. **).
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STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS
FOR THE CROSS-ANSWER BRIEF

Mr. Locke begins his statement of the case and facts by maintaining

that everything he has done was “required by the justice of the cause with

which I am charged.” (AB. 1).

He believes the “United States of America” prompted the Bar to

investigate and file this proceeding against “Black attorneys” and that the

United States of America did not ask the Bar to investigate “Caucasian

attorneys.” (AB. 2). Actually, Judge Mendoza simply ordered the clerk to

send a copy of his sanction order to the Bar. (R-Ex 82). Judges regularly

send copies of such orders to the Bar.

Mr. Locke seems to believe that there was some elaborate conspiracy

to harm him because the Bussey-Morice case was transferred to Judge

Mendoza when Judge Mendoza was newly appointed to the bench in

Orlando – allowing Judge Honeywell to return home to Tampa. This

occurred after Judge Honeywell had already entered the judgment against

his client and in favor of all defendants. (TFB-Ex. 41-42).

His fixation on a possible flaw in the method or procedure of this

ordinary reassignment caused him to file appeals, writs of mandamus,

complaints of judicial misconduct (even against Chief Judge Conway), and
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lawsuits against the clerk of the court – all of which he describes in his

statement of facts as matters that the justice of the cause required him to do.

Indeed, he believes that if the Eleventh Circuit simply had Judge

Mendoza’s deposition from this proceeding that it would now understand a

jurisdictional defect that rendered all proceedings void from the time that

Judge Mendoza took over the case. But Mr. Locke is unable to understand

or answer Judge Carnes’ first question at the oral argument: “Therefore

what?” (R-Ex. 92). Any procedural defect in the transfer of cases when

Judge Mendoza replaced Judge Honeywell in Orlando simply had no

jurisdictional significance. The federal courts granted Mr. Locke and his

client extraordinary due process, but all he seems to see is a racist

conspiracy with the United States of America as the instigator of an

unwarranted attack upon him.

As explained in the facts of the initial brief and in the facts of the several

federal decisions, the Bussey-Morice case was not a civil rights case based

on racial discrimination. (IB. 6) The decedent in the wrongful death action

was a very large man who was having a psychotic episode, probably

connected with cocaine use. He became unmanageable at a hospital where

he was a voluntary Baker Act patient. The hospital called 911 for help. The

hospital could not sedate him and even a taser did not bring him under
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control. It is tragic that he died at the hospital, but he did not die because of

his race; he died while out of control during a psychotic episode.

This was a difficult case for any lawyer to prosecute under 42 U.S.C.

§1983. In the end, the evidence did not support the claim. Mr. Locke lost

the case in district court and on appeal to the Eleventh Circuit, but those

courts provided him with full due process.

Nevertheless, Mr. Locke describes the case in his statement of the

facts as involving “the brutal killing of yet another unarmed Black male at the

hands of law enforcement.” (AB 16). He somehow believes that great

injustice was done to himself because, about two weeks after the entry of

the final judgment, the case was “reassigned again, this time from Judge

Honeywell, a Black federal judge, to District Judge Carlos E. Mendoza,. . . a

Hispanic federal judge.” (AB 21). After Judge Mendoza ruled against him

on the motions pending post judgment, Mr. Locke claims he “was compelled

to look into [the reassignment] after having been denied due process on

multiple occasions by Judge Mendoza in the case since taking over the

case.” (AB 22). No court has ever found that Judge Mendoza denied Mr.

Locke due process despite Mr. Locke’s endless efforts to prove this claim.

Mr. Locke also seems to believe that there was some conspiracy in the

prosecution of this Bar proceeding, and “fundamental errors” in the
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determination of probable cause by the grievance committee prior to the filing

of this proceeding, in which the Referee found that he violated eight rules of

professional conduct by clear and convincing evidence. The facts necessary

to discuss his claim concerning the grievance committee will be discussed in

the argument section, as will the facts related to his challenge to the cost

judgment.
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REPLY ARGUMENT TO THE ANSWER BRIEF

Mr. Locke’s lengthy brief does not actually appear to contain the

contents of an answer brief. It does not contain a section in answer to the

Bar’s initial brief, followed by a separate section providing his cross-review

initial brief. The table of contents does not contain his numerous argument

headings. This makes it difficult to determine whether his arguments are in

answer to the Bar’s brief or are part of his cross-review.

In the Bar’s initial brief, it argued that the Referee’s recommendation

of a 90-day, non-rehabilitative suspension was not a sanction supported by

the Standards or the case law. The Bar argued that the Referee’s failure to

find any aggravating factors was an error; that the evidence supported the

aggravating factors of substantial experience, multiple offenses, and refusal

to acknowledge the wrongful nature of his conduct. The Bar argued

extensively that the Referee erred in deciding that Mr. Locke’s emotional

problems should be treated as a mitigating factor. The long-term, unresolved

emotional problems were the heart of the circumstances that gave need to a

period of rehabilitation.

Mr. Locke’s table of authorities does not cite to any of the Standards.

His brief does not appear to reference “rehabilitation” or “rehabilitative.” It

does not discuss therapy or psychological treatment. It does not appear to
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contain the word “aggravating,” or the phrases, “substantial experience,”

“multiple offenses,” “refusal to acknowledge” or “wrongful nature.” It

discusses emotional problems only in the context of claiming they should be

a mitigating factor. Thus, it appears that, rather than answer the Bar’s brief,

Mr. Locke is primarily relying on his own argument in the cross-review that

the case should be dismissed in its entirety.

Concerning the aggravating factor of substantial experience, Mr. Locke

makes no attempt to suggest that he did not have substantial experience.

He addresses the aggravating factor of multiple offenses only by arguing that

he should not be found guilty of any offenses. And as to his refusal to

acknowledge the wrongful nature of his conduct, he simply argues that he

did nothing wrong that would warrant such an acknowledgment.

Rather than attempt to answer the Bar’s argument that a period of

rehabilitation is needed to address Mr. Locke’s emotional problems, Section

J of Mr. Locke’s brief (located between page 91 and 96) argues that the

Referee’s recommended sanction is too harsh because it failed to properly

weigh the mitigating factors. That argument will be addressed in the answer

to the cross-review initial brief.
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ANSWER TO THE CROSS-REVIEW INITIAL BRIEF

I. Mr. Locke has not been deprived of due process or equal

protection.

Pages 2 through 5 of Mr. Locke’s statement of the facts and pages 36

to 56 is dedicated to an argument that this case should be dismissed for

constitutional reasons. These arguments appear to be based primarily on

five separate matters. The brief will discuss each of those matters.

A. The Grievance Committee

Mr. Locke seems to believe that his due process rights were violated

because his case was based on an order sent to the Bar by a federal judge

and it was considered by a grievance committee in the Thirteenth Judicial

Circuit. (AB 2-3, 40, 43).

This particular complaint was initiated by the Bar itself based on the

sanctions order sent to it by Judge Mendoza. (Locke’s Appendix, Tab 1)

See, Rule 3-7.3 (c). This is the normal method of opening a complaint filed

by a judge. Judges are not expected to file a formal complaint.

The Bar sent Mr. Locke a standard initial letter and allowed him an

opportunity to respond. He filed a 22-page response. (LA, Tab 2). While

the initial letter to Mr. Locke indicated that the complaint, if assigned, would

be assigned to Grievance Committee 17A, it was actually sent to Grievance
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Committee 13F. Nothing in Rule 3-7.3 requires that a referral be sent to a

grievance committee in a circuit where the attorney has his or her primary

office. Mr. Locke’s email to the Bar in his appendix to his brief explains that

he understood that the Bar’s complaint was assigned to Committee 13F

because the order had sanctioned both Mr. Locke and Mr. Patterson, and

Mr. Patterson lived in Tampa. (LA Tab 6) Mr. Locke’s appendix indicates

that he cooperated with the assigned investigating member of Grievance

Committee 13F. (Locke’s Appendix, Tab 5). Additionally, he filed more

information after he was informed that the committee was authorized to make

a probable cause determination without an evidentiary hearing.

The grievance committee, of course, only determined probable cause.

When this formal complaint was filed with this Court, Mr. Locke did not move

to dismiss the complaint due to some procedural defect occurring during the

grievance process. He did not allege an affirmative defense that the

predicate finding was a violation of his rights or defective.

As a practical matter, the Referee is now recommending this Court find

Mr. Locke guilty of the violations after a full evidentiary hearing where Mr.

Locke was represented by counsel. That recommendation is based on clear

and convincing evidence. Even if Mr. Locke has not waived this issue, there

is no evidence of a due process violation during the grievance committee
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phase or any evidence of misconduct by that committee affecting its probable

cause determination. The record in this proceeding reconfirms that the

grievance committee properly found probable cause.

B. The Referee

Mr. Locke claims his due process rights were violated because this

Court “steer[ed]” his case to be heard by the same referee that was assigned

Mr. Patterson’s case. (AB 43). He claims that the Referee violated his rights

by considering the evidence in Mr. Patterson’s case sixty days before Mr.

Locke’s case, prejudging his case, and by denying his motion to disqualify

the Referee. (AB 43).

The record reflects that this Court first ordered the Chief Judge of the

Nineteenth Judicial Circuit to appoint a referee, which was within this Court’s

power. (Tab #5). When Mr. Locke requested a change of venue, this Court

accommodated that request and ordered the Chief Judge of the Seventeenth

Judicial Circuit to appoint a referee. (Tab #12-14). The Chief Judge

appointed Circuit Court Judge Kollra to be the referee in December 2019.

(Tab #15). Judge Kollra had already been assigned to Mr. Patterson’s case.

Given that the matters were inter-related and stemmed from the same

sanction order, there was nothing illogical or improper about that decision.

Mr. Locke did not challenge that appointment at the time it was made.
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Mr. Locke first filed a motion to disqualify the Referee in November

2020, after the Referee had issued his Report and Recommendation in Mr.

Patterson’s case. (Tab #88). He claimed that by making findings of fact in

Mr. Patterson’s case, the Referee had prejudged Mr. Locke’s case. The

Referee denied the motion as legally insufficient. (Tab #91). He provided

no further explanation because it is improper for a judge to pass upon the

truth of allegations in such a motion. See Fla. R. of Gen. Prac. and Jud.

Admin. 2.330(h).

Mr. Locke does not appear to argue that the Referee’s ruling on his

motion to disqualify was legally incorrect. The fact that a judge has made an

adverse ruling even in the pending case is not a legally sufficient ground for

recusal. See Mansfield v. State, 911 So. 2d 1160, 1171 (Fla. 2005).

Judges regularly hear evidence and legal arguments that they have

heard before in related cases. The Referee patiently listened to all of the

evidence and made his recommendations based on his assessment of the

evidence and the credibility of the witnesses. He even allowed Mr. Locke to

present arguments himself when he was represented by counsel. Nothing

in this record would justify disqualifying the Referee.

Mr. Locke’s due process arguments concerning the Referee are

unfounded.
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C. The Transfer of the Hearing to Orange County

Mr. Locke is upset that the final hearing was transferred to Orange

County, which was one of the two suggested venues at the beginning of this

case. (Tab #2). Keep in mind that, at his insistence, Mr. Locke received a

referee from Broward County. That Referee simply held the in-person

hearing in Orange County.

But Mr. Locke’s argument is disturbing because it has no basis in the

real facts. His brief claims he was “compelled” to have the hearing in Orange

County “for no other reason that (sic) the referee had granted The Florida

Bar’s motion for one witness to appear via live video-conference.” (AB 42).

This hearing took place in the middle of the pandemic. Many hearings

before referees occurred remotely by Zoom technology during that period.

Mr. Locke wanted an in-person hearing, and it had to be rescheduled several

times. (Tab #80). It is true that the Bar arranged to have testimony by live

video conference for two witnesses who had health and safety concerns, and

Mr. Locke had objected to that accommodation because he wanted in-

person cross examination. (Tab # 88). The Referee granted the motion for

their testimony to be presented by live video. (Tab #90).

But Mr. Locke was “compelled” to try his case in Orange County

because he filed a motion to transfer the final hearing to Orange County.
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(Tab #98). His motion explained that the two witnesses were willing to testify

live if the hearing occurred in Orlando. Thus, the physical location of the final

hearing was transferred from Broward to Orange County at Mr. Locke’s

request so that he could have live cross-examination of two witnesses.

It is undoubtedly true that the Referee was not excited by the idea of

traveling to Orlando and staying in some hotel to try this case. But he did.

That is why Mr. Locke claims the Referee deprived Mr. Locke of “due

process.” He thinks this case should be dismissed because the Referee

granted his motion to transfer the hearing even when the Referee would have

had the discretion to deny the motion. This argument is beyond frivolous. It

is a demonstration of why the Bar maintains that Mr. Locke needs counseling

during a period of rehabilitation.

D. The Failure of Judge Honeywell and Elizabeth Warren to Testify

Finally, Mr. Locke maintains he was deprived of due process because

Judge Honeywell and the Clerk of the Southern District, Elizabeth Warren,

declined to testify at depositions.

It is true that Judge Honeywell declined to be deposed and Ms. Warren

also declined to be deposed or produce documents. Mr. Locke does not

claim that he tried to obtain an order from the Referee or from this Court

requiring them to provide discovery information or that he tried to subpoena
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them for trial. But the Bar assumes that efforts to compel this discovery

would have been unsuccessful.

Mr. Locke wanted to depose Ms. Warren on issues surrounding the

transfer of the Bussey-Morice case to Judge Mendoza. He wanted to

discover the documents that had been denied him in the federal litigation

even though he appealed the issue in federal court and filed a separate

lawsuit against Ms. Warren. He simply will not accept that the process or

paperwork by which the Bussey-Morice case was reassigned to new Judge

Mendoza, allowing Judge Honeywell to go home to Tampa, had nothing to

do with jurisdiction or any other substantive aspect of the Bussey-Morice

case. It has even less to do with any issue in this proceeding. The only

place where there is some grand conspiracy to shift the federal case from a

judge of one race to a judge of another race as a method to punish Mr. Locke

for the color of his skin is in his own mind.

Mr. Locke claims that he would have received favorable testimony from

Judge Honeywell if she had testified on three matters. He claims her

testimony would have been relevant to: (1) interpreting her own statements

made in the October 17, 2012 hearing, (2) confirming that she actually

wanted to sanction his client and not him for the delays in litigation, and (3)

to opine that he did not cause delays in the litigation. (AB 48).
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The transcript of the October 17, 2012 hearing is in the record. (TFB-

Ex 26). The passage that Mr. Locke wants Judge Honeywell to “interpret”

begins on page 22 of that transcript:”

THE COURT: All right. Thank you.

Let me address a few things with regard to this case. I
have not had the privilege of conducting any hearings before
counsel for the parties in this case. I do know that we have a
number of motions scheduled for hearing next week, and so I
look forward to having an opportunity to interact with you all.

I can tell you from my review of the docket in this case,
the behavior that’s been demonstrated from just orders and
written submissions will not be tolerated by this Court.

You should know - - an I’m disappointed that Mr. Patterson
is not on the phone, Mr. Locke, but I will hold you responsible for
conveying my comments to him.

MR. LOCKE: Yes, ma’am

THE COURT: This Court will not tolerate unprofessional
behavior whatsoever. I will not hesitate to stop a proceeding,
convert it into a contempt proceeding and then begin a contempt
hearing immediately. I will not yell. I will not raise my voice, and
I will not allow counsel to do that either. We will all be
professional. We will refer to people by their names, and we
will limit out comments to the facts that are necessary for
disposition of the motions before the Court.

Some of the allegations that have been raised in this case
to me really just have been appalling, and so I just want
everybody to know that that stops. You won’t come into my
courtroom with that. It just absolutely will not be tolerated.

(emphasis supplied)

Judge Honeywell wanted the absent Mr. Patterson to know her

assessment of what she saw in the docket and the written submissions, but
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the lawyer who stopped using the officers’ names and filed the many written

submissions using “Brutality Officers” instead of people’s names was not Mr.

Patterson; it was Mr. Locke. He does not need to have Judge Honeywell

“interpret” this passage to him again.

As for as having Judge Honeywell explain her intention to sanction his

client – rather than Mr. Locke and Mr. Patterson – for the failure to comply

with the requirements of the case management order, the transcript of the

hearing should make her intent clear. (TFB-Ex 26 pp. 26-31). In part, the

transcript reflects:

I’m also going to award, as a sanction for plaintiff’s failure
to comply with the requirements in the Case management and
Scheduling Order as opposed to a dismissal of this case, an
award of attorney’s fees and costs to defense counsel based
upon the additional time that they now must incur for purposes
of preparing this Joint Pretrial Statement as opposed to a
unilateral pretrial statement, because they are now going to have
to duplicate some efforts; and this presupposes that there will be
communication between the parties, that you will be able to
dialogue and talk about the things that need to be in there.

I’ll get witness lists and exhibit lists that conform to the
requirements here in federal court and I’ll get objections that
conform, because I think the order indicates failure to raise
specific objections constitutes a waiver of those objections. So
it’s important that those things are done.

Are there any questions thus far with regard to what I’ve
said?

(TFB-Ex.26, p. 27).
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A few pages later the transcript reflects:

MR. LOCKE: Your Honor, this is Wendell Locke. Nine
a.m. sounds fine.

One other question I have and I guess it relates to the joint
effort. I know at the last pretrial statement, the attorneys for the
individual officers, they had two attorneys present; and ,
similarly, the attorneys for the City, they had two attorneys
present.

I realize that the Court is sanctioning us rather than
dismissing the plaintiff’s claims. I guess my question is an I
guess I’m just thinking about the sanctions issue, if they have
two attorneys each at the trial conference, is it the Court’s
position that we would be responsible for paying for fees for two
attorneys for each - - I guess from each law firm?

(TFB-Ex.26, p. 30-31)

The sanction is for a failure of the attorneys to do their job. There is

no claim that an uncooperative client caused the delays and prevented the

lawyers from obeying the order. Judge Honeywell never says she is

sanctioning the client. No reasonable attorney would have thought for an

instant that this sanction was against the client – which is probably why Mr.

Locke immediately observes that the Court is “sanctioning us,” and

recognizes that “we would be responsible for paying for fees.” The “we” is

not Ms. Bussey-Morice; it is Mr. Locke and Mr. Patterson.

Finally, as to why the case was not ready for trial at the time of pretrial,

the record speaks for itself. Mr. Locke was not going to obtain favorable
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testimony from Judge Honeywell. Clearly, the Referee did not deprive him

of due process by anything requested of the Referee before or during the

final hearing.

E. The Failure of a Grievance Committee to find probable cause
against other lawyers in the underlying lawsuit.

Mr. Locke believes that this case should be dismissed because his bar

complaint against the opposing lawyers did not receive a finding of probable

cause by a grievance committee. It is worth noting up front that this

proceeding against Mr. Locke is not based on a bar complaint from opposing

counsel; it was initiated in light of a sanction order entered by a federal judge.

Even if Equal Protection could be an affirmative defense to a bar

proceeding, which the Bar does not concede, Mr. Locke’s answer did not

raise a claim that the proceeding violated his rights under Equal Protection

or allege a factual basis for any form of Equal Protection claim. (Tab #11).

Even if he had not waived this claim, he did not attempt to prove it at the

hearing.

Equal protection is typically a challenge to a statute, rule, or regulation,

not a challenge to a decision to prosecute one claim. If Mr. Locke now

maintains the Bar violated a fundamental right, he has not identified the

fundamental right. See Jackson v. State, 191 So. 3d 423, 426 (Fla.
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2016)(“[T]he first question is whether or not the statute affects a fundamental

right or a suspect class.”).

Mr. Locke appears to be making a claim of a violation against a class

of one, i.e. Mr. Locke. Such claims are very hard to establish, and the failure

of the Bar to prosecute his claim against opposing counsel, after the

grievance committee did not find probable cause, hardly presents the

necessary proof. See Village of Willowbrook v. Olech, 120 S.Ct. 1073, 1074,

528 U.S. 562, 564 (U.S. 2000)(“Our cases have recognized successful equal

protection claims brought by a ‘class of one,’ where the plaintiff alleges that

she has been intentionally treated differently from others similarly situated

and that there is no rational basis for the difference in treatment.”).

If Mr. Locke’s claim is a claim of selective enforcement of the rules, he

has not pleaded or proved that claim. As explained in Bell v. State, 369

So.2d 932, 934 (Fla. 1979): “In order to constitute a denial of equal

protection, the selective enforcement must be deliberately based on an

unjustifiable or arbitrary classification. Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 456, 82

S.Ct. 501, 506, 7 L.Ed.2d 446, 453 (1962). The mere failure to prosecute all

offenders is no ground for a claim of denial of equal protection. Moss v.

Hornig, 314 F.2d 89, 92 (2d Cir. 1963).”
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Thus, a violation of equal protection rights plays no role in this

proceeding.

II. The Referee correctly determined that the eight violations were

proven in this case

A. Rule 4-3.1 (Meritorious Claims and Contentions)

Rule 4-3.1 provides that “a lawyer shall not bring or defend a

proceeding, or assert or controvert an issue therein, unless there is a basis

in law and fact for doing so that is not frivolous, which includes a good faith

argument for an extension, modification, or reversal of existing law.”

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section D, beginning at page 67

of his brief. He claims that his amended motion to vacate the judgment was

not frivolous because that finding was made by Judge Mendoza who “was

not a credible witness in this proceeding.” (AB 67). He discounts the

extensive findings in the order because Judge Mendoza allegedly denied

him “due process on multiple occasions.” (AB 68). He claims Judge

Mendoza “abandoned the law of the case” and “disregarded Rule 7(b) of the

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in the process. (AB 68).

Thus, his primary argument addressing his violation of Rule 4-3.1 is

actually a further attack impugning the integrity of Judge Mendoza. Judge

Mendoza’s order sanctioning him was not reversed by the Eleventh Circuit
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and, if that does not make it the law of the case, it does make it substantial

evidence that his conduct was frivolous.

Repeatedly in his brief, Mr. Locke claims that Judge Honeywell ordered

sanctions against his client and that Judge Mendoza changed that ruling

without a basis to do so. But, as quoted earlier in this brief, Judge Honeywell

did not order fees from his client and Mr. Locke demonstrated at the hearing

that he understood that he and Mr. Patterson would be responsible.

Respondent’s trial exhibits 47, 49, and 50 do not enter a sanction order

against Ms. Bussey-Morice as a personal representative or individually.

Exhibit 47 is an entry in the clerk’s minutes reflecting that the “Court orders

sanctions against Plaintiff for failure to comply with the requirements in the

case management and scheduling order.” Exhibit 49 is a docket entry of an

“oral order” sanctioning “Plaintiff” for the same reasons. Exhibit 50 is the

hearing transcript. None of these items suggest that Judge Honeywell

planned to enter a written order sanctioning the client for the lawyers’

misconduct. If she had done so, Mr. Locke would have had an obligation to

move for rehearing and request that the sanctions be directly imposed on

the two lawyers. The idea that Judge Mendoza violated Mr. Locke’s due

process rights by concluding that the lawyers were responsible for the
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sanctions arising from failure to obey the case management order is simply

unfounded.

But Mr. Locke does not appear to understand that his claims that are

without merit are far more extensive than the filing of the amended motion to

vacate the judgment. As explained in the Bar’s initial brief, the motion for

reconsideration was without merit. The appeal claiming that Judge Mendoza

had no jurisdiction was without merit. His requests for judicial oversight to

the chairmen of the House and Senate Judiciary Committees were without

merit. His complaint of judicial misconduct against Judges Conway and

Mendoza was without merit. His motions to stay proceedings in district court

to enforce the sanctions were without merit. And perhaps most of all, his

mandamus action and the lawsuit against Elizabeth Warren were without

merit.

There is competent substantial evidence to support the Referee’s

findings of fact and his recommendation to this Court that Mr. Locke violated

this rule. He actually violated it multiple times. The evidence establishes

that he violated this rule knowingly. See The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731

So. 2d 1249 (Fla.1999).
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Although the Bar does not claim that Mr. Locke did these actions

maliciously because they seem to be a product of the emotional conditions

that warrant rehabilitation, they were done intentionally.

B. Rule 4-8.2(a) (Impugning the Integrity of Judicial and Legal Officials)

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section H of his brief, beginning

on page 81. He claims that the record is “void” of any evidence that he

impugned the integrity of a judicial official. He argues that his criticism was

“objectively reasonable.” (AB 81). He claims that the Referee’s report is

inadequate because it is “completely glossing over Respondent’s testimony

that the statements he made were actually true.” (AB 82).

Putting aside his criticism of the Eleventh Circuit as perhaps the

reaction of a lawyer who is disappointed that he lost an appeal, his repeated

claims that Judge Mendoza violated his due process rights and disobeyed

the rules of procedure have no “objective” basis in fact.

There is a legitimate debate in this country about the scope of the

“qualified immunity” provided to police officers in actions under section 42

U.S.C. §1983. But that debate does not make “objectively reasonable” the

claims he made against Judge Mendoza or Judge Conway, or against the

Clerk of the Court, Elizabeth Warren. His fixation on the transfer of this case

from Judge Honeywell to Judge Mendoza did not justify the many meritless



24

actions that he took. But it patently did not justify claiming that the Clerk of

Court’s action in league with the judges was “tantamount to the commission

of wire fraud.” (TFB-Ex. 86a).

Frankly, Mr. Locke continues this violation of Rule 4-8.2 in his brief. He

claims that he is not demeaning the integrity of a judicial officer when he

argues the judge violated Canon 2A and his duty to be impartial. It

apparently is not demeaning to describe the judge’s actions as “repeated

due process violations and a brazen willingness to disregard the governing

rule of procedure and case law to reach a conclusion adverse to the

Respondent.” (AB 84).

Incredibly, he claims that his statements are made not to impugn Judge

Mendoza’s integrity, because his statements are “required by the justice of

cause with which the Respondent was charged, zealously advocating for his

client, but also challenging deviations in procedure which, in turn, would likely

diminish public confidence in the impartiality of the judiciary.” (AB 85).

The problem here is that Mr. Locke’s subjective sense of justice has

been distorted by life experiences that even his law partner believes have

created a “hypersensitivity to race issues.” (TS. 10-11). His oath as a lawyer

does in fact permit him to advance a fact prejudicial to the honor or reputation

of a party or witness when required by the justice of his client’s cause. But
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the exception must be based on objective evidence. Mr. Locke simply has

lost his ability to make these decisions objectively.

The competent substantial evidence supports the Referee’s

recommendation of a finding of guilt for this violation.

C. Rule 4-3.4(c) (Fairness to Opposing Party and Counsel)

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section F, beginning at page 74

of his brief. He claims that the record is “void” of any evidence that he

violated this rule. He claims that it was not unfair to the defendants who were

police officers to refer to them as “The Brutality Officers” after Judge

Honeywell firmly explained to him and the other lawyers that “[w]e will refer

to people by their names.” He seems to believe that Judge Honeywell only

wanted him to “convey her sentiments” to Mr. Patterson; not that he too was

required to call people by their names. (AB 75).

As a practical matter, the Oath of Admission to the Florida Bar since

2011 has required all lawyers to pledge “fairness, integrity, and civility” to

opposing parties “not only in court, but also in all written and oral

communications.” Under Rule 4-3.4, lawyers are not supposed to express

their opinions about the culpability of civil litigants even in the absence of an

order from a federal judge. But Judge Honeywell gave Mr. Locke a clear oral

order directing him to obey these basics of professionalism.
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One can only imagine how Mr. Locke would have responded if the

defense counsel had dreamed up a comparable, derogatory moniker for the

decedent. And yet, in his brief, Mr. Locke explains: “The Respondent’s use

of the ‘Brutality Officers’ phrase was a combination of empirical and

conventional arguments, cleverly intertwining the tortious conduct supported

by admissible evidence with the guilty subjects.” (CrB 78). It was not clever;

it was not an empirical argument or a conventional argument. It was simple

name-calling that had been clearly forbidden by a federal judge.

Mr. Locke cites several federal cases in footnote #232 for the

proposition that prosecutors engage in comparable name-calling in closing

argument as a “common tactic” so that he too was free to engage in name-

calling in his pleadings. First, although unpreserved closing argument issues

are reviewed only for fundamental error, name-calling by state prosecutors

can become a feature of a trial that rises to the level of fundamental error.

See Pacifico v. State, 642 So. 2d 1178, 1183 (Fla. 1st DCA

1994)(prosecutor's references to appellant as a “sadistic, selfish bully,” a

“criminal,” a “convicted felon,” a “rapist,” and a “chronic liar” required new

trial for fundamental error). Our appellate courts are vigilant to police

misconduct by prosecutors in closing argument, especially when it involves
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accusatory terms. See, e.g., Rodriguez v. State, 822 So. 2d 587, 587 (Fla.

2d DCA 2002); Kellogg v. State, 761 So. 2d 409, 409 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000).

But the issue here is not whether a lawyer’s lack of professionalism

requires a new trial as fundamental or even preserved error. The question

is whether the conduct violates the Rules of Professional Conduct. Here the

“Brutality Officers” pleadings would show a lack of professionalism in any

context. But after Judge Honeywell explained that she would not tolerate

such conduct, the continuation of the conduct and the choice to defend the

conduct as an action required by the justice of the cause simply makes no

sense.

There was competent substantial evidence to support the Referee’s

recommendation of guilt for this violation.

D. Rule 4-1.7 (Conflict of Interest; Current Clients)

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section C, beginning at page 59

of his brief. His arguments are similar to the arguments rejected by the

Referee in his Report. (ROR 29-34). Mr. Locke persists in his claim that

Judge Honeywell orally announced that the sanctions for violating the case

management order must be paid by his client. This is a position flatly

rejected by the Referee, and as explained earlier, it is a position that is
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unsupported by the documents and the transcript from the federal

proceeding.

Mr. Locke argues that he explained to his client shortly after the 2012

hearing that Judge Honeywell had erred and that Ms. Bussey-Morice should

not ultimately be required to pay the fees. He explained to her that his plan

was to leave the matter unresolved until the federal court set the fees

because they would be uncollectible from her. The Referee rejected this

evidence as a failure to obtain informed consent from the client in writing.

(ROR 32). Mr. Locke left the client in limbo on this until he paid the fees in

2018.

What Mr. Locke fails to appreciate is that he created the conflict himself

by trying to keep the sanctions in a posture where they would be assessed

against a personal representative, who he believed would not be legally

required to pay them, in order to attempt to avoid paying the sanctions

himself. As the Referee explained, Mr. Locke’s “goal” “was to have the

sanctions ordered against his client and then subsequently have the

sanctions effectively wiped out because his client is a personal

representative.” (ROR 30-31).

Rather than trying to protect himself through a convoluted process of

obtaining a judgment against his client that he hoped would be uncollectible,
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Mr. Locke was supposed to make it clear from the inception that he knew

that he and Mr. Patterson were responsible for the amount of the sanction.

He should have resolved the matter with opposing counsel in the months

following the hearing in front of Judge Honeywell. Instead, he left it

unresolved as an uncertain risk for his client.

And then in February 2018, he filed a motion for reconsideration of

Judge Mendoza’s sanction order against himself arguing that the law of the

case had established that the earlier sanction was to be imposed against his

client. (TFB-Ex. 71). He is correct that he withdrew that argument, but he

did so in a short notice that claimed the argument he was withdrawing was

“legally sound.” (TFB-Ex 72). Essentially, he takes the position that he is

paying his client’s sanction as a volunteer.

Admittedly, there are cases in which a conflict has caused greater

harm than in this case. But this conflict was senseless from the beginning,

and even now Mr. Locke is arguing that he should not be found to have

violated this rule because “Judge Mendoza changed the law of the case to

sanction the attorneys, . . . completely disregarding how Judge Honeywell

ruled back in 2012.” (AB 63).
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E. Rule 4-3.5(c) (Impartiality and Decorum of the Tribunal);

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section G, beginning at page 79

of his brief. He claims that the record is void of any evidence that he intended

to disrupt the proceedings in federal court. After being brought into the case

by Mr. Patterson as a buffer to calm the situation, Mr. Locke filed the first

“Brutality Officers” document, which had the predictable effect of upsetting

the defendants. Then, after being told that the judge wanted name-calling to

stop and for parties to be addressed by their names, he filed his response to

the motion to strike the use of this term. The response is largely quoted on

page 17 of the Referee’s report. Later he files his “Response Vehemently

Opposing” defense motions and continuing the use of the “Brutality Officers”

mantra.

Mr. Locke claims to be surprised that his “clever” rhetoric, “a

combination of empirical and conventional arguments,” ultimately required

court hearings and court orders. He claims to be surprised that the

proceedings of the federal case were disrupted to deal with his attention-

seeking behavior. But the Referee assessed the facts differently.

This may very well have been a form of non-violent protest addressing

Mr. Locke’s disdain of qualified immunity. But court pleadings are not an

appropriate place for a licensed lawyer to engage in non-violent protest. Mr.
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Locke does not have immunity to engage in this conduct without accepting

its consequences.

The competent substantial evidence supports this recommendation.

F. Rule 4-8.4(d) (Misconduct)

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section I, beginning at page 89 of

his brief. Rule 4-8.4(d) states that a lawyer shall not engage in “conduct in

connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of

justice.” The rule explains that this conduct includes knowingly disparaging

or humiliating litigants or court personnel.

Mr. Locke is correct that the report does not specify the conduct that

the Referee found to violate this rule. But his claim that the Bar is raising

this rule because he sought access to the courts for his client is entirely off

the mark. Admittedly, his repeated efforts to obtain information – supposedly

aimed at a theory that the transfer of the case from Judge Honeywell to

Judge Mendoza gave Judge Mendoza no jurisdiction – was found by the

Referee to be meritless, frivolous litigation. It did interfere with the

administration of justice.

But the conduct that involves disparaging litigants and court personnel

is spread across this file. From his initial decision to refer to the defendants

as “Brutality Officers,” to his email to Mr. Walker referring to him as “Massa
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Walker,” to the comments described on page 16 of the Report of Referee,

and to his decision to allege claims against Elizabeth Warren claiming she

was committing acts comparable to “wire fraud,” he was disparaging litigants

and court personnel. He was also disparaging judges, but that conduct is

prohibited by a Rule 4-8.2.

None of this conduct, viewed objectively, was undertaken to “benefit

his client in the Civil Rights Case and himself in this proceeding because he

never thought in a million years that Judge Mendoza would make himself

available for deposition.” (AB 90).

The competent substantial evidence supports the Referee’s

recommendation of guilt for this violation.

G. Rule 3-4.3 (Misconduct and minor misconduct)

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section B, beginning at page 57

of his brief. Rule 3-4.3 recognizes that the other rules are not “all-inclusive,”

and it is designed to fill the gap when other rules do not specifically prohibit

conduct. It prohibits a lawyer from committing “any act” that is “contrary to

honesty and justice” without regard to where is occurs. Because of its

breadth, this rule tends to overlap with the more specific rules.

Mr. Locke is correct that the Report does not identify specific conduct

in violation of this rule. But the Referee did find that he failed to admit, at the
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inception that the sanctions imposed on him by Judge Honeywell were not

actually sanctions aimed at his client, and that his efforts to have

uncollectible judgments entered against Ms. Bussey-Morice, was part of his

personal goal to avoid paying the sanction. It is very clear in the Report that

the Referee regarded this conduct as contrary to honesty and justice.

Bringing a frivolous lawsuit against Elizabeth Warren is likewise contrary to

honesty and justice. Continuing to use the “Brutality Officers” moniker after

Judge Honeywell’s instructions and claiming that its use is entirely

appropriate seems contrary to honesty and justice as well.

Given that the other violations tend to overlap with this one, this

violation plays little role in the Bar’s request for a rehabilitative suspension,

but there is competent substantial evidence supporting the Referee’s finding

of this violation.

H. Rule 4-3.2 (Expediting Litigation)

Mr. Locke addresses this violation in section E, beginning at page 69

of his brief. The rule simply states: “A lawyer shall make reasonable efforts

to expedite litigation consistent with the interests of the client.” Judge

Honeywell, of course, sanctioned Mr. Locke and Mr. Patterson for failing to

prepare the case for the final pretrial process.



34

Mr. Locke primarily argues that he could not have violated this rule

because he had not designated himself as “lead counsel” in the federal case.

He believes that only Mr. Patterson could violate this rule. Of course, the

rule does not say that a lawyer shall make reasonable efforts when lead

counsel.

Functionally, Mr. Locke came into the case to take the lead in dealing

with both opposing counsel and the Court because Mr. Patterson needed

someone to take the lead. Judge Honeywell did not commit legal error in

determining that Mr. Locke could and should be sanctioned for violating the

court order. And failing to prepare your client’s case for pretrial is a classic

way by which lawyers fail to expedite their client’s case.

To be clear, while the competent substantial evidence supports this

violation, the Bar does not argue that this conduct is more than negligent

conduct. Without the other violations, this violation would warrant only a

minor sanction. Indeed, if he had cooperated and paid the federal sanction

in 2012, rather than using his client as a target for the sanction to avoid his

own obligation to pay the sanction, this conduct would probably warrant no

sanction at all.
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It is the other conduct in this case, and the Bar’s concern that the other

conduct is the product of Mr. Locke’s emotional trauma, that prompts the Bar

to seek a rehabilitative suspension in this case.

III. If anything, the Referee gave too much weight to mitigating

factors and not enough to aggravating factors in recommending

a non-rehabilitative suspension.1

Rather than address the Bar’s argument in its initial brief that Mr.

Locke’s emotional trauma requires rehabilitation, Mr. Locke argues in section

J, on pages 91 to 95, that the Referee failed to give proper consideration to

mitigating factors when recommending a 90-day, non-rehabilitative

suspension. His argument does not suggest what sanction he believes this

Court should impose.

Some of the mitigating factors considered by the Referee clearly have

limited weight. While in general Mr. Locke had no dishonest or selfish motive

for his conduct during the prosecution of the Bussey-Morice case, the

Referee found that his goal in contending that Judge Honeywell’s sanction

was imposed against his client was to avoid paying the sanction. His

cooperation during the hearings in this disciplinary proceeding is largely

1 The Bar will count the words in this section as a portion of its reply brief

because the answer to this issue is so intertwined with the arguments the

Bar made in its initial brief.
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offset by some of his other conduct such as the petition for certiorari to this

Court.

But Mr. Locke wants this Court to give greater weight to “the emotional

trauma stemming from a long history of being exposed to racism,” and “the

post-traumatic stress and conditions of Black Americans who have suffered

from encounters with racism.” (AB 92). As carefully explained in the initial

brief, emotional problems that are acute – especially problems that are

already treated and resolved – can and should be a significant mitigating

factor. But chronic, unresolved problems stemming from a long history of

trauma are not a matter that this Court should treat as a mitigating factor.

When they reach the level demonstrated in this case, they become a factor

that strongly supports rehabilitation.

As explained in the initial brief, the Bar wants Mr. Locke to succeed in

rehabilitation and to return as a lawyer who can achieve for his clients the

objectives and outcomes that the law provides for them. The Bar is not

seeking to punish Mr. Locke; it simply wants to him to address directly and

adequately his personal emotional trauma because that trauma is preventing

him from representing his clients. Especially when Mr. Locke recognizes

that he has this long-term problem, but he will not even begin to seek the
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help he needs to address the problem, the Bar believes that a one-year

suspension is needed for rehabilitation.

Mr. Locke argues that his case is similar to The Florida Bar v. Aven,

317 So. 3d 1095 (Fla. 2021). That case involved a lawyer who was an

unsuccessful candidate for county judge. During his campaign, the lawyer’s

conduct violated both the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct and Canon

7 of the Code of Judicial Conduct, which was applicable to him during his

campaign. This Court accepted a consent judgment for a public reprimand

over the dissents of Justice Canady and Justice Labarga.

About the only similarity in these two cases is the impact of prior

sanctions. Mr. Aven lost his election. The people had already punished him

for impugning the integrity of the sitting judge. If he had won the election,

the tenor of the opinion suggests his sanction may have been far greater.

Mr. Aven’s conduct was not the product of any disclosed underlying

emotional trauma.

Mr. Locke also compares his situation to The Florida Bar v. Thomas,

582 So. 2d 1177 (Fla.1991). Thomas is an older case prior to the policy on

harsher sanctions. This Court rejected the Referee’s sanction and imposed

a public reprimand plus a year on probation when Mr. Thomas filed a

frivolous lawsuit against another lawyer with whom he was having disputes
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over a business relationship. That lawsuit was dismissed for lack of

prosecution. The case does not involve multiple frivolous actions or filings.

It does not involve impugning the integrity of judges or suing a clerk of court.

It does not appear to involve chronic emotional problems from long-term

trauma. If the sanction imposed in Thomas was appropriate in 1991 for the

conduct described in that case, the sanction suggested by the Bar is

appropriate in this case today.

On page 93, Mr. Locke describes an uncited case that appears to be

The Florida Bar v. Graham, 679 So. 2d 1181, 1181 (Fla.,1996). Graham is

a consent judgment in a bar discipline proceeding after Gary G. Graham was

removed from judicial office, essentially for over-zealous actions that clouded

his impartially as a county court judge. Thus, the “previous sanction” in

Graham was a very serious sanction. While it is likely that former Judge

Graham did need some emotional therapy at the time of the events that

resulted in his removal, that is not an issue addressed by the opinion. Thus,

the Graham case has very limited comparative value in this case.

Mr. Locke takes issue with the Bar’s comparison of his actions in this

case with the actions of Mr. Patterson in his prior disciplinary action. See

The Florida Bar v. Patterson, 257 So. 3d 56 (Fla. 2018). It is not an identical
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case, but it is a very recent case resulting in a one-year suspension for

similar conduct.

Mr. Patterson was found to have violated four rules – all of which Mr.

Locke also violated. Those rules are Rule 3-4.3, Rule 4-1.7, Rule 4-8.2(a),

and Rule 4-8.4(d). He was not charged with the four additional violations

involved in this case: Rule 4-3.1 (meritorious claims), Rule 4-3.4(c) (fairness

to opposing parties), Rule 4-3.5(c) (impartiality and decorum), or Rule 4-3.2

(failure to expedite).

The monetary sanction imposed in the underlying action in Patterson

was imposed on both Mr. Patterson and the client, who was culpable, and

that sanction was $160,000. Thus, that aspect of the case appears more

serious than this case. On the other hand, the prior sanction was also

dramatically larger, which would have caused it to be a more important

mitigating factor.

The Bar submits that the extent to which Mr. Locke has impugned the

integrity of Judge Mendoza, Judge Conway, and Elizabeth Warren is more

extreme than the conduct involving Judge Martinez in Mr. Patterson’s case.

Mr. Locke suggests that Mr. Patterson’s decision not to file a brief in his

earlier case makes the two cases distinguishable. But at least Mr. Patterson
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did not file a brief claiming a judge’s testimony in the disciplinary proceeding

was not credible and the Referee should not have accepted it as true.

Mr. Patterson was not found guilty of filing a frivolous action. His

lawsuit was based on claims of a client who made false claims under oath.

In contrast, Mr. Locke filed a series of frivolous motions and lawsuits all –

except for the amended motion to vacate the judgment – designed to have

some court hold that Judge Mendoza had no jurisdiction so that the sanction

order would be void.

Mr. Locke claims that Mr. Patterson’s conflict with his client was more

extreme than his own, and that the conflict involved an underlying monetary

issue. It does appear to be true that Mr. Patterson’s conflict is at least more

patent, and the $160,000 at issue is clearly an element that gave Mr.

Patterson a greater selfish motive.

But Mr. Locke is not entirely candid about his motives. He was

pursuing appeals in the name of his client in an effort to have the Eleventh

Circuit hold that Judge Mendoza had no jurisdiction. He was continuing to

claim that Judge Honeywell had been legally correct in sanctioning his client.

If he had prevailed in all of this, the order requiring him to pay the sanction

would have been void, and he would have been entitled to a refund of the

amounts he had paid.
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To avoid any confusion, Mr. Locke did not sue Elizabeth Warren in the

name of his client. He sued her in his own name. That case does not directly

contribute to any conflict with his client.

But, all in all, the portions of Patterson that might warrant a greater

sanction than the content of this case are offset by the portions of this case

that warrant a greater sanction than Patterson. And Patterson does not

involve a situation where even the respondent’s lawyer and law partner

recognized that he was in need of treatment to address the chronic emotional

problems created by life-long issues.

The Referee certainly did not err in recommending the sanction that he

recommended because it was too harsh. But his non-rehabilitative

suspension should be rejected because it is not adequate to rehabilitate the

emotional problems present in this case.

IV. The Referee did not abuse his discretion in recommending a cost

judgment in the amount of the costs itemized in his report.

Mr. Locke contends that the Referee’s recommended cost judgment

should not be entered by this Court. His statement of facts discusses this at

page 15, and his argument is located at Subsection J beginning on page 96.
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The Bar filed a motion to assess costs on March 8, 2021, (Tab #114),

and an amended motion on March 12, 2021. (Tab # 117). The amended

motion did not change the amount of the costs, but included a more detailed,

itemized statement of costs. There is no dispute that the “statement of costs”

is not an affidavit. Rule 3-7.6(q)(5) requires the Bar to file a statement of

costs, but it does not specify that the statement must be sworn.

The parties held a telephonic hearing before the Referee on March 15,

2021, to resolve the costs. Mr. Locke’s counsel did not file a written objection

to the costs prior to the hearing. At the hearing Mr. Locke was represented

by counsel. Part of the difficulty with this issue is that Mr. Locke and his

counsel took different positions at the hearing.

The primary disagreement at the hearing concerned the court reporter

costs, including the costs for reporting, transcribing, and providing copies of

the three-day final hearing and the sanction hearing. Prior to the hearing,

Bar counsel had emailed the invoices for the court reporting services to Mr.

Alan, Mr. Locke’s counsel. (Cost Transcript 15)(RA 17).2 Mr. Alan had

forwarded them to Mr. Locke, but due to a death in his family Mr. Locke had

2 Mr. Locke provides a transcript of this hearing in his appendix to his brief,

but he cites to it only as being in his Appendix. To facilitate review, a copy

of the transcript of the cost hearing is provided in an appendix to this cross-

answer brief.
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not had an opportunity to review the invoices. (RA 18). The invoices were

emailed to the Referee to review during the hearing. (RA 17).

Before the invoices were emailed to the Referee, Mr. Alan had

explained that he did not want to make “a big discovery issue out of this,” but

he thought that U.S. Legal could provide an affidavit about the charges. (RA

11). The Referee was concerned because it was not clear to him that the

court reporter’s costs included transcripts. (RA 9-10). Once the Referee

received the invoices by email, he confirmed that they included the costs of

the transcripts. (RA 18).

When Mr. Locke spoke, he took the position that the transcripts were

unnecessary. (RA 12). The Referee emphatically explained that the

transcripts were necessary for him to prepare the Report of Referee in this

case. (RA 13-14).

Mr. Locke also took the position that the costs of the Referee were not

assessable under the rule. (RA 15). The Referee had costs because the

hearing had not been held remotely, and due to Mr. Locke’s motion to

transfer the final hearing to Orlando, he had been required to travel to

Orlando and stay there for the three-day hearing. It was in his response to

this argument, that the Referee explained that he had not been “real thrilled

about going to Orlando.” (RA 16).
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Bar counsel responded to this argument, pointing out that the

Referee’s costs are expressly taxable costs listed in Rule 3-7.6(q)(1)(G),

which lists both “travel and out-of-pocket expenses.” (RA 17). Mr. Locke

admitted that he had not seen that subsection and stated: “So that takes

care of that.” (CT 15).

Mr. Locke did not specifically object to other costs itemized in the

statement of costs, but he did argue at the end of the hearing that the costs

were not submitted by affidavit and, thus, he did not think they were properly

authenticated. (RA 19-20).

Mr. Locke’s counsel had not objected to authentication in a written

objection prior to the hearing, and he did not do so at the hearing. Bar

counsel explained that she believed the invoices submitted by email were

adequate for authentication, but offered to provide them by affidavit, which

she thought she could accomplish on the day of this hearing. (RA 20). The

Referee responded that his questions were answered “and particularly when

I reviewed the invoices.” (RA 20). Accordingly, he is recommending that the

Court grant the Bar’s amended motion for costs in the total amount of

$13,622.80. (DT 18).

Those costs include $830.14 for the Referee’s costs for traveling to

Orlando. They include Bar counsel’s costs in an almost identical amount for
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similar travel costs to Orlando, including an additional deposition. (Tab

#116). They include $60 for subpoena service, and $145 for investigative

costs. There were $1,250 in administrative costs, and $10,481.00 in court

reporter services.

The Referee’s decision on costs is reviewed for abuse of discretion.

See Rule 3-7.6(q)(2). He clearly did not abuse his discretion on the travel

costs, subpoena costs, investigative costs, or administrative costs.

Mr. Locke argues that the cost per page for the transcripts was too

high, but he did not argue that issue to the Referee. He claims that the rule

allows only for the expense of having a court reporter, but not the cost the

transcript copies. However, the rule lists both “court reporters’ fees” and

“copy costs.” As a practical matter, the transcripts would have been

necessary for his review of the findings of guilt in this Court if the Referee

had not found them essential for his own work.

If the Bar had realized that Mr. Locke wanted a statement of costs

under oath or greater detail than was provided to his attorney prior to the

hearing, it could have provided that information. The Bar offered to provide

the information in that format to the Referee, who found that additional step

to be unnecessary to resolve his concerns. If this Court is concerned about

the need for better “authentication,” the Bar is certainly willing to provide it to
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the Court by affidavit. The rule itself does not expressly provide that the

statement of cost must be sworn, and the Bar does not always file affidavits

in support of cost motions when the respondent has not filed a written

objection.

This Court has repeatedly explained that “[w]here the choice is

between imposing costs on a bar member who has misbehaved and

imposing them on the rest of the members who have not misbehaved, it is

only fair to tax the costs against the misbehaving member.” The Florida Bar

v. Kassier, 730 So. 2d 1273, 1276 (Fla.1998); See The Florida Bar v.

Whitney, 132 So. 3d 1095, 1109 (Fla. 2013); The Florida Bar v. Head, 27 So.

3d 1, 10 (Fla. 2010).

The Court should enter a cost award as recommended by the Referee.
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CONCLUSION

The Bar asks this Court to reject the recommendation of the Referee

for a non-rehabilitative 90-day suspension and impose a rehabilitative one-

year suspension. During the suspension, Mr. Locke should be required to

attend the Ethics School and the Professionalism Workshop. The Bar is not

asking this Court to compel Mr. Locke to seek any specific regimen of

counseling prior to reinstatement, but it certainly encourages Mr. Locke to

seek the counseling he needs to address his emotional problems as part of

the elements required to establish proof of rehabilitation. The Court should

impose the costs recommended by the Referee.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Chris W. Altenbernd_______________
Chris W. Altenbernd, Esq.
Florida Bar No: 197394
Email: service-caltenbernd@bankerlopez.com
BANKER LOPEZ GASSLER P.A.
501 E. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 1700
Tampa, FL 33602
(813) 221-1500
Fax No: (813) 222-3066
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Lindsey M. Guinand, Esq.
2002 N. Lois Ave., Suite 300
Tampa, FL 33607
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Attorneys for The Florida Bar
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Attorneys for The Florida Bar

/s/ Chris W. Altenbernd
Chris W. Altenbernd, Esq.
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